STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Spartanburg County

Honorable J. Mark Hayes, Circuit Court Judge

ORIGINAL
RECEIVED
MAY 17 2019
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

ALEXANDER RASHEEN MATTHEWS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2018-000170

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

TAYLOR D GILLIAM
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the trial court erred in overruling Appellant's objections to improper character evidence regarding an irrelevant incident between Appellant and his girlfriend, where the testimony was unrelated to the charges at trial, where the discussion painted Appellant in a negative light, and where the testimony yielded information about Appellant's arrest, subsequent conviction, and status as an inmate at Evans Correctional Facility?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Spartanburg grand jury indicted Appellant for murder, burglary in the first degree, and third degree arson in June 2016. R. 309-312. He proceeded to a bench trial before the Honorable J. Mark Hayes, II on January 23, 2018. Abel Gray and Allison Mabbs appeared on behalf of the State, and Richard Welchel and Daniel MacDonald represented Appellant. Following a three-day trial, Judge Hayes found Appellant not guilty of the burglary charge, guilty of voluntary manslaughter, and guilty of third degree arson. R. 303, ll. 5 – 10. Appellant was sentenced to twenty-five years' incarceration on the voluntary manslaughter charge and fifteen years on the arson charge. R. 308, ll. 9 – 14.

This brief follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In reviewing a trial court's ruling on the admissibility of evidence, appellate courts recognize that the trial judge has considerable latitude in this regard and will not disturb such rulings absent a prejudicial abuse of discretion. State v. Whitner, 399 S.C. 547, 557, 732 S.E.2d 861, 866 (2012); State v. Clasby, 385 S.C. 148, 154, 682 S.E.2d 892, 895 (2009). "An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support." Whitner, 399 S.C. at 557, 732 S.E.2d at 866. The admission and exclusion of evidence is largely a matter of trial judge discretion and his rulings will not be overturned on appeal unless he manifestly abuses his discretion and the defendant suffered prejudice as a result. State v. Thompson, 305 S.C. 496, 502, 409 S.E.2d 420, 424 (Ct.App.1991).

ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in overruling Appellant's objections to improper character evidence regarding an irrelevant incident between Appellant and his girlfriend, where the testimony was unrelated to the charges at trial, where the discussion painted Appellant in a negative light, and where the testimony yielded information about Appellant's arrest, subsequent conviction, and status as an inmate at Evans Correctional Facility.

Relevant facts

On June 17, 2014, law enforcement and firefighters arrived at the home of Willie Mae Gray, found her in the home, extinguished the fire, and attempted to revive her. R. 14, l. 3 – R. 16, l. 25; R. 35, ll. 15 – 20. Gray passed away. R. 20, l. 5 – R. 21, l. 22. No burns were found on her body. R. 36, ll. 4 – 5. The cause of death was determined to be strangulation. R. 238, ll. 6 – 15. The fire marshal testified that the fire was intentionally set. R. 45, ll. 20 – 24. A Doral cigarette butt was located outside the house and sent to SLED for testing. R. 51, ll. 18 – 21; R. 110, ll. 1 – 9.

A fire safe, open and empty, was located in Gray's home. R. 62, ll. 1 – 23. No fingerprints were found on the safe. Similarly, a pen taken from Gray's home did not contain any fingerprints. R. 68, ll. 14 – 17. A fingerprint and palm print taken from the front storm door did not yield any identifying information. R. 64, l. 24 – R. 65, l. 9. Law enforcement noted that dresser drawers had been pulled open and jewelry boxes had been opened; the contents had been removed and gone through. R. 63, ll. 14 – 24.

The decedent was once married to a man named Billy James Gray whose nickname was Tree. R. 75, ll. 14 – 24. Tree was a known drug dealer in Spartanburg County. R. 75, l. 25 – R. 76, l. 81, l. 22. In the words of the decedent's son, Willie James Miller, Tree was "good at what

he did, unfortunately.” Id. The three lived together, and Tree would bring home thousands of dollars. Id. At one time, law enforcement located drugs and \$150,000 in the Gray household. Id.

James Gray, son of Billy James Gray, was nicknamed Little Tree. R. 77, ll. 18 – 25. Little Tree was bothered by the fact that he did not receive his fair share of his father’s money. R. 81, ll. 10 – 20. According to the lead detective in this matter, Little Tree came by the decedent’s house and asked for some money the day of the fire. R. 90, l. 19 – R. 91, l. 18. The decedent only gave Little Tree “a couple of dollars” which upset him. Id. He remarked that “[h]alf of this is mine anyway.” Id.

Little Tree was arrested a day or two after the fire on unrelated charges. R. 117, ll. 11 – 21. Notably, at the time of arrest he was found to be in possession of a woman’s ring. Id.

Little Tree’s interactions with the decedent notwithstanding, the case “went cold for a brief period” of between eight months and a year. R. 93, ll. 15 – 25. Law enforcement began re-investigating the case and spoke with Samantha Brewton, a neighbor and friend of the decedent. R. 126, l. 21 – R. 127, l. 25.

Samantha Brewton and the decedent had an altercation immediately prior to the date of the fire. R. 129, ll. 18 – 25. The decedent accused Brewton stealing a one hundred dollar bill and called the police. R. 131, ll. 9 – 24; R. 133, ll. 19 – 21; R. 134, ll. 8 – 9. The two never “patch[ed] things up” before the decedent passed away. Id. Brewton, who had prior convictions of shoplifting, arson, financial identity fraud, and felony driving under the influence with bodily injury, smoked cigarettes and was allowed to smoke on the decedent’s porch when she was over at her house. R134, l. 22 – R. 135, l. 7.

Sandra Brewton, sister to Samantha, was dating Appellant at the time of the fire. R. 136, l. 24 – R. 137, l. 24. Sandra was at home that evening, as was Appellant when Samantha Brewton called her. R. 138, l. 21 – R. 139, l. 17. After the fire, Appellant continued to live with Sandra for a couple of weeks. R. 141, ll. 3 – 8. At trial, when she was asked what caused him to “finally leave [her] home for good,” counsel for Appellant objected:

I know, I believe I know, what the solicitor is trying to get out of this particular witness. It involves an incident between my client and this woman. It has nothing to do with the allegations in this particular trial. And I would object to it, Your Honor.

R. 142, ll. 2 – 7. The trial judge overruled the objection and let the witness answer “for the limited purpose” of describing the relationship between Sandra Brewton and Appellant. R. 142, ll. 8 – 9.

Within seconds of discussing the incident, defense counsel again objected to hearsay when Sandra began to explain how Appellant had allegedly paid her son to leave the house. R. 142, ll. 11 – 19. Counsel argued that the witness would have only gathered that information by hearing it from her son. Id. The judge again overruled the objection and told counsel that he would be able to “cross-examine her on the credibility of the statement.” Id.

Sandra Brewton described alleged threats uttered by Appellant. R. 143, ll. 5 – 9. She testified that after hearing them, she left the house to go to her sister’s. R. 143, l. 12 – R. 144, l. 12. When she returned to her house, a television was missing. Id. Law enforcement was called, that Sandra Brewton advised the police that she believed Appellant had stolen the television. Id.

When asked if Appellant ever touched her, defense counsel again objected and noted his ongoing objections. R. 144, ll. 13 – 25. The trial judge asked that the line of questioning not “get too far off.” Id. The objection and request from the judge notwithstanding, the solicitor asked whether Appellant was arrested. R. 145, ll. 2 – 8. Sandra Brewton testified her daughter

called her to tell her that Appellant had broken a window trying to get into her home, thus prompting yet another hearsay objection from defense counsel. R. 145, l. 19 – R. 146, l. 16.

Counsel objected and pointedly remarked that he was unsure what the point of this testimony was. *Id.* The trial judge then sustained the objection based on the line of questioning getting into “collateral issues.” R. 146, ll. 6 – 16. The police took Appellant to jail. R. 146, ll. 17 – 21.

With a different witness, Christopher Taylor from the Spartanburg Police Department, on the stand, the prosecution again delved into this unrelated incident. R. 211, l. 10 – R. 212, l. 18. Defense counsel objected and questioned the relevance. *Id.* Taylor remarked that Appellant was convicted of “some crime involving Ms. Brewton.” *Id.* The solicitor then elicited information regarding Appellant’s status as an inmate at Evans Correctional Institution in Bennettsville. *Id.*

Discussion

“In a criminal case, the State cannot attack the character of the defendant unless the defendant first places his character in issue.” State v. Nelson, 331 S.C. 1, 6, 501 S.E.2d 716, 718 (1998); Rule 404(a)(1), SCRE. “In a similar vein, evidence of other crimes or bad acts is generally inadmissible to prove the crime charged unless the evidence tends to establish (1) motive, (2) intent, (3) absence of mistake or accident, (4) a common scheme or plan, or (5) identity.” Nelson, 331 S.C. at 6, 501 S.E.2d at 718; Rule 404(b), SCRE. “Both rules are grounded on the policy that character evidence is not admissible ‘for purposes of proving that the accused possesses a criminal character or has a propensity to commit the crime with which he is charged.’” Nelson 331 S.C. at 6, 501 S.E.2d at 718-19. “Further, evidence of prior bad acts is inadmissible to show criminal propensity or to demonstrate the accused is a bad person.” *Id.*

“Evidence of other crimes must be put to a rather severe test before admission.” State v. Timmons, 327 S.C. 48, 52, 488 S.E.2d 323, 325 (1997).

Earlier this year in State v. Lawson, this Court found that the trial court abused its discretion “by admitting testimony referencing Kirkland [Correctional Institute] ... because the reference indicated ... that Appellant had a prior criminal record and the reference was unnecessary.” 424 S.C. 51, 57, 817 S.E.2d 509, 512 (2018). Similarly, none of the objectionable testimony from either Sandra Brewton or Christopher Taylor was necessary to the fact finder.

In State v. Tate, 288 S.C. 104, 105, 341 S.E.2d 380, 381 (1986), the Court found that the six-man photographic array containing the mug shot of the defendant should not have been admitted into evidence because it implied that he had a prior criminal record, and thereby improperly placed his character into evidence. The Court cited precedent that a “mug shot” cannot be admitted into evidence unless: “(1) The state had a demonstrable need to introduce the photograph; and (2) the photographs themselves, if shown to the jury, must not imply that the defendant had a prior criminal record; and (3) the photograph must not be introduced in such a manner to draw attention to the source or implication of the photograph.” 288 S.C. at 105, 341 S.E.2d at 381. The Tate Court found that neither of the first two prerequisites were met. Id. at 106, 341 S.E.2d at 381. Specifically, the Court found that “the markings on the photographs, particularly the date, which was almost one year prior to the trial of this case, would clearly infer to the jury that appellant had a prior criminal record.” Id. The Tate Court ruled that “[t]he prejudicial effect of these photographs outweighs their probative value and the prejudice was neither cured nor rendered harmless by other events which occurred at trial.” Id.

In State v. Owens, 293 S.C. 161, 166, 359 S.E.2d 275, 277 (1987), the Court rejected the appellant’s argument that testimony of three state witnesses injected improper evidence of his

prior criminal record because each witness stated he met appellant in prison. The Owens Court found that such was not “testimony regarding any prior bad act by appellant,” as the evidence produced “indicated only that appellant was in jail for the crime for which he was then being tried.” 293 S.C. at 166, 359 S.E.2d at 277. Additionally, the appellant had himself introduced testimony by three inmates and a corrections officer who each stated he knew appellant in prison. Id. Thus, the testimony of the State’s witnesses did not prejudice Owens. Id.

In State v. Council, 335 S.C. 1, 11-13, 515 S.E.2d 508, 513-14 (1999), the Court affirmed the denial of the defense’s motion for mistrial after SLED agent Counts testified that he obtained the defendant’s fingerprint card from “SLED records for comparison.” The Court found that it was “questionable whether the jury even understood the implication of Count’s statement,” and cited to other cases where “references to a defendant’s past conduct were too vague to be prejudicial.” 335 S.C. at 13, 515 S.E.2d at 514. The Council Court distinguished Tate, writing:

In Tate, appellant’s mug shot was introduced into evidence. The date on the mug shot was almost one year prior to the trial thus inferring to the jury that appellant had a prior criminal record. In this case, the fingerprint card was never introduced into evidence, and therefore the jury was not aware of when SLED obtained the card. Therefore, there was no evidence before the jury of when or for what purpose the fingerprint card was made.

Id. at 13, n. 7, 515 S.E.2d at 514 n. 7.