ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
J. Mark Hayes, Circuit Court Judge

MAY 01 2019

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2018-000170

THE STATE,RESPONDENT

v.

ALEXANDER RASHEEN MATTHEWS,APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

J. BENJAMIN APLIN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 8729

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-3727

BARRY J. BARNETTE
Solicitor, Seventh Judicial Circuit

180 Magnolia Street
Spartanburg, South Carolina 29306
(864) 596-2575

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY

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

ARGUMENT

The trial court properly overruled Appellant's objections to the admission of allegedly "improper character" evidence about his prior criminal behavior because: (1) the testimony at issue was cumulative to similar testimony admitted at trial to which no objection was raised and (2) in the context of a bench trial, the testimony could not have been prejudicial. Furthermore, and for the same reasons, any possible error in admitting the evidence was entirely harmless because it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial.

Appellant argues the trial court erred in overruling his objections to the introduction of "improper character evidence" regarding an incident between Appellant and his girlfriend because the testimony at issue "was unrelated to the charges at trial," the discussion "painted Appellant in a negative light," and "the testimony yielded information about Appellant's arrest, subsequent conviction, and status as an inmate at Evans Correctional Institution." (Brief of Appellant, p.4). He contends this testimony amounted to an improper attack on his character

because it demonstrated he had a prior criminal history, and he complains that it was unnecessary and wholly irrelevant to the crimes for which he was on trial. The State submits Petitioner's argument should be denied on several grounds. First, the evidence was properly admitted where it was cumulative to prior and nearly identical testimony to which no objection was raised. Second, even if not deemed cumulative, the comments in question could not have resulted in any prejudice to Appellant where he had a bench trial rather than a trial by jury. Finally, and for similar reasons, even if the testimony was allowed by the trial court in error, its admission was entirely harmless where it could not have reasonably affected the outcome of trial. The record was replete with competent evidence to sustain the findings of the trial court and Appellant's convictions. His convictions and sentence should be affirmed.

Relevant Facts

During trial, lead investigator Nelson was asked if Sandra Brewton had any relationship with Appellant. He explained that at the time of the investigation Sandra and Appellant lived together as boyfriend and girlfriend. When police interviewed Sandra at their home, she retrieved and gave the police a prescription bottle bearing the name "Spencer Middleton" which *she said belonged to Appellant*. Based on his training and experience, *Nelson opined the prescription bottle had been modified so it could be used to smoke crack or other illegal substances*. Appellant did not object to Nelson painting Appellant in a negative light. Nelson next testified that after talking to the Brewton sisters, the police decided to speak to Appellant. When asked where Appellant was located, Nelson said: "At this particular time he was at the Evans Correctional . . . Institution in Bennettsville, South Carolina." Appellant similarly did not object to the revelation of Appellant's status as an inmate. (Tr.p.97-p.101).

Later, Sandra Brewton took the stand and described her relationship with Appellant. She explained Appellant lived with her at the time of Victim's death and that on the night of the fire, he came home smelling like smoke and proceeded to take a shower with all of his clothes on, including his shoes, before coming to bed nude. Sandra said Appellant continued to live with her for a couple of weeks after the incident until she asked him to leave. (R.p.135-p.141).

The solicitor asked Sandra when Appellant finally moved out of her home for good, and "[w]hat happened?" Appellant objected to any testimony being offered about an incident between himself and Sandra, but the trial court ruled: "I'm going to let her answer for the limited purpose of their relationship." Sandra proceeded to describe the incident which led to Appellant's arrest, conviction, and incarceration. It began when: "he tried to start an altercation with me." Sandra said that one morning after breakfast, Appellant "kept feeling on me." She told him she did not want him touching her. Appellant had accused her of fooling around with someone else, which she claimed she never did. Sandra left and went to tell her sister what happened and when she returned, Appellant was gone and her TV was missing. Sandra called the police. After they arrived on the scene, Appellant returned to the house with a beer bottle in his hand and denied he had taken the TV. He was given a trespass notice by the police but shortly thereafter came back to the house wearing only his boxers and tried to get Sandra to take him back. Sandra said she refused and instead went to the C.V.S. to get some medication. When she returned, police officers were on the scene. They arrested Appellant for breaking her window and trying to get into her home. Sandra testified the police took Appellant to jail that day. (R.p.135-p.148). On cross-examination, in response to a question from Appellant asking when she first talked to police about him, Sandra said: "It's been three and a half years, sir. I tried to get over this. This man tried to kill me." Appellant immediately moved to strike,

arguing the answer was unresponsive. The trial judge noted that if the case was in front of a jury he might order the response stricken, however, he did not do so because it was a bench trial.¹ (R.p.149-p.150).

Theresa Hines, a DNA analyst with SLED, was later testifying about the CODIS “hit” she got after testing fingernail scrapings taken from Victim’s body. She noted *the source of the reference sample was the South Carolina Department of Corrections (SCDC)* and that a match was made to an individual identified as Spencer Middleton. (R.p.182-p.186). SLED DNA analyst Jennifer Lynn Bartman then testified *the known standard used in the DNA test was from Appellant, who is also known as Spencer Middleton*. Appellant made no objection to this testimony from Hines and Bartman, which demonstrated Appellant’s status as an inmate in SCDC at the time the police were investigating Victim’s death.

Spartanburg Police Department Investigator Christopher Everette Taylor subsequently testified about the police investigation, which was renewed in 2015 after the case had gone cold. He participated in an interview of Sandra Brewton. Taylor was asked if there was ever a discussion of an incident involving a physical altercation Sandra had with Appellant. Appellant objected, arguing the testimony did not have anything to do with him, and that the solicitor was going too far afield from what the judge had allowed. The trial judge overruled the objection and explained he was viewing the testimony as “simply laying some foundation for what police work was done as part of the investigation.” Taylor proceeded to testify that Appellant had been convicted of a crime involving Sandra, and as a result Appellant was interviewed by the police at Evans Correctional Institution in Bennettsville. (R.p.211-p.212). On cross-examination Appellant had Taylor repeat the fact that he was interviewed in a correctional facility. (R.p.217).

¹ See *State v. Wharton*, 263 S.C. 437, 445, 211 S.E.2d 237, 241 (1975) (recognizing that, in a bench trial, the trial judge is perfectly capable of laying otherwise impermissible testimony aside even where it is admitted during trial).

After the State rested, Appellant rejected his attorney's advice and elected to testify in his own defense. He began by described his relationship with Sandra Brewton. He said he met Sandra at church and then moved to Spartanburg to live with her. Appellant testified Sandra "started acting crazy" and wanting his social security money. He then described his relationship with Sandra's sister Samantha Brewton, and his brief contact with Victim, who was Samantha's neighbor. Appellant claimed he got scratched on the arm when breaking up a fight between Victim and Samantha the day before Victim was killed, presumably to explain the source of the DNA under Victim's fingernails. He insisted he did not go into her house to set a fire and did not strangle her to death. He then *confirmed he was interviewed by the police when he was incarcerated* in Evansville [sic]. (R.p.261-p.273).

On cross-examination, the solicitor asked if it was true Appellant went to prison for an incident involving Sandra Brewton. Appellant objected, arguing it was an improper attempt to impeach him with a prior conviction that went beyond the parameters of the rules. The trial court noted there had already been testimony about their relationship which opened the door, including testimony from Appellant himself, and ruled the question was proper. Appellant then acknowledged he had gone to prison for burglary, volunteering this was because: "I threw a brick through the window to get my clothes and stuff out of there." (R.p.273-p.274). Appellant subsequently *repeated the fact that he had been interviewed by the police while he was in prison in Bennettsville*. (R.p.275). He then admitted he had a previous conviction "where [he] killed someone," without objection. (R.p.279). The solicitor then attempted to cross-examine Appellant in regard to two prior sentencing sheets which were apparently issued under the name Spencer Middleton. Appellant objected; however, the trial court allowed the testimony for the limited purpose of linking the alias "Spencer Middleton" to Appellant. Appellant ultimately

admitted he pled guilty to voluntary manslaughter as indicated on the sentencing sheets, but insisted he did so using the name Alexander Rasheen Matthews and not Spencer Middleton. (R.p.280-p.284).

Discussion / Analysis

Appellant takes specific issue with the testimony elicited from Sandra Brewton about the altercation which led to his arrest, conviction, and incarceration because it painted him in a negative light and yielded information about his status as an inmate. He also takes issue with related but less detailed testimony elicited from Officer Taylor. However, the evidence was properly admitted where it was cumulative to prior and nearly identical testimony to which no objection was raised. Even if not deemed cumulative, the comments in question could not have resulted in any prejudice to Appellant because he had a bench trial. Finally, and for similar reasons, even if the testimony was allowed by the trial court in error, its admission was entirely harmless where it could not have reasonably affected the outcome of trial.

Cumulative Evidence

“In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge. Issues not raised and ruled upon in the trial court will not be considered on appeal.” *State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693 (2003). Thus, the failure to object to evidence at the time it is offered at trial constitutes a waiver of the right to have the issue heard on appeal. *See State v. Johnson*, 324 S.C. 38, 41, 476 S.E.2d 681, 682 (1996) (holding a contemporaneous objection is required at trial to properly preserve an error for appellate review); *Geddings v. Geddings*, 319 S.C. 213, 215, 460 S.E.2d 376, 377 (1995) (finding issue unpreserved for appellate review where appellants failed to contemporaneously object to witness’s testimony). Here, Appellant failed to make a contemporaneous objection

when the solicitor elicited testimony from lead investigator Nelson suggesting Appellant had modified his prescription bottle so he could smoke crack cocaine, and he failed to object to Nelson's testimony that Appellant was already an inmate when police were investigating Victim's death. Thus, any complaint about Nelson's testimony would not be preserved for appellate review.

As a consequence, even as to Appellant's preserved challenge to the testimony elicited from Sandra Brewton and Officer Taylor, that testimony was harmless because it was merely cumulative to the testimony from Nelson. *See State v. Gardner*, 332 S.C. 389, 505 S.E.2d 338 (1998) (holding the defendant could not show prejudice in connection with testimony of certain witness where different witness testified to the same matter without objection); *State v. Blackburn*, 271 S.C. 324, 329, 247 S.E.2d 334, 337 (1978) (finding the admission of improper evidence is considered harmless when it is merely cumulative to other properly admitted

□). The allegedly objectionable testimony is similarly cumulative to the later testimony elicited from DNA analysts Hines and Bartman as to Appellant's status as an inmate, as well as Appellant's own testimony to this effect. All of this testimony went to Appellant's prior criminal history. Because the testimony was cumulative, it could not have been unfairly prejudicial, and Appellant's claim of error should be denied.

Bench Trial

Even if this Court determines the evidence was not merely cumulative to other admitted evidence at trial, it nevertheless could not have been prejudicial to Appellant where he elected to have a bench trial rather than a jury trial. It has long been settled that the admission of incompetent or irrelevant evidence is not a ground for reversal when there is sufficient competent evidence to support the judgment and it does not appear that the court was induced by that

evidence to make essential findings that it otherwise would not have made. *Multi-Med. Convalescent & Nursing Ctr. of Towson v. N.L.R.B.*, 550 F.2d 974, 977-78 (4th Cir. 1977); *Lopez v. United States*, 790 F.3d 867, 873 (8th Cir. 2015). Indeed, the admission of evidence in a bench trial is rarely grounds for reversal, for the trial judge is presumed to be able to exclude improper inferences from his or her own decisional analysis. *Bic Corp. v. Far E. Source Corp.*, 23 F. App'x 36, 39 (2d Cir. 2001); *See also Schultz v. Butcher*, 24 F.3d 626, 632 (4th Cir. 1994) (“For a bench trial, we are confident that the district court can hear relevant evidence, weigh its probative value and reject any improper inferences.”). Some courts have even held that in the context of a bench trial, evidence should *not* be excluded under Rule 403 on the grounds that it is unfairly prejudicial, because the court is capable of assessing the probative value of the evidence and excluding any arguably improper inferences. *Tracinda Corp. v. DaimlerChrysler AG*, 362 F.Supp.2d 487, 497-98 (D. Del. 2005).

In Appellant’s case, these very principles were adopted by the trial court when it declined Appellant’s request to strike the unresponsive testimony offered by a State’s witness during his cross-examination, because the case was not being heard in front of a jury. (R.p.149-p.150). As implicitly recognized by the trial court, regardless of whether the testimony from Sandra Brewton and Officer Taylor was technically admissible under a traditional prejudice analysis, its admission was not prejudicial to the court’s assessment of the evidence in Appellant’s trial. It should not serve as a grounds for reversal where it was relevant to give the court a complete picture of the relationship between Appellant and Sandra Brewton and the steps the police took in the investigation, and where there was substantial circumstantial evidence in the record to support Appellant’s convictions independent of the allegedly objectionable testimony. Furthermore, there is no evidence in the record to indicate the trial court was induced by the

challenged evidence to make essential findings that it otherwise would not have made. For this reason alone, Appellant's argument should be rejected.

Harmless Error

Errors are considered to be harmless when they could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial. *State v. Adams*, 354 S.C. 361, 380, 580 S.E.2d 785, 795 (Ct. App. 2003). "It is a rule of practically universal application in appellate procedure that an accused cannot avail himself of error as a ground for reversal where the error has not been prejudicial to him." *State v. Hariott*, 210 S.C. 290, 298, 42 S.E.2d 385, 388 (1947). Here, even if this Court determines the trial court erred in allowing the challenged testimony from Sandra Brewton and Officer Taylor, Appellant was not prejudiced by the error where it was cumulative, was offered during a bench trial, and was insignificant in the context of the remaining evidence supporting Appellant's convictions. Thus, any possible error in allowing the testimony from Sandra Brewton and Officer Taylor was entirely harmless because it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial. *See State v. Mitchell*, 286 S.C. 572, 573, 336 S.E.2d 150, 151 (1985) (holding whether an error is harmless depends on the circumstances of the case, but it is harmless where it could not reasonably have changed the outcome of the trial). For all of these reasons, Appellant's convictions and sentences should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION